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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

DENNIS HAWVER,

)
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) No.5:14-cv-04084-DGK
)
LAWTON R. NUSS, et al., )
)
Defendants. )

ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS

This lawsuit arises out of Plaintiff Denriitawver’s disbarment by the Kansas Supreme
Court for “inexplicable incompence” in defending a client against capital murder charges.
After the Kansas Supreme Court’'s action, the fddgisdrict court for the District of Kansas
subsequently ordered Plaintiff to show cawdey it should not impose reciprocal discipline
pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.6.4. Plaintiff thendikbe pending lawsuit, seeking to stave off his
Kansas disbarment and any reoigal discipline. Plaintiff isuing the members of the Kansas
Supreme Court, the Kansas Attorney Discipline Administrator, the Kansas Attorney Discipline
Prosecutor, members of the Kan&aard of Discipline for Attorays, and the chief judge of the
Kansas District Court for inpctive relief and damages.

Now before the Court is a motion by Defendar8tanton Hazlett, Alexander Walczak,
Patricia Dengler, John Gatz, J. Nick Badgerswmnberly Bonifas, M.Jennifer Buneti, Jeffrey
Chubb, John Conderman, Dennis Depew, Shaye Downing, John Duma, Randall Grisell, Calvin
Karlin, Kathryn Marsh, Jack Scott Mcintedviira Mdivani, Arthur Palmer, Phillip Ridenour,

Rex Sharp, and Lee Smithyman (collectively “Btate Disciplinary Praeding Defendants”) to
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dismiss (Doc. 14) pursuant to Federal RuleCaofil Procedure 12(b)(1and (6). Finding that
Plaintiff's claims lack facial plausibility, thenotion is GRANTED for failure to state a claim.
Standard of Review

A complaint may be dismissed if it fail¢o state a claim upon with relief can be
granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). To avdidmissal, a complaint must include “enough facts
to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fadg€ll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544,
570 (2007). “A claim has facial alisibility when the plaintiff gads factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasdn@ inference that the defendais liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Determining the plausibility of a claim is
a “context-specific task that requires the revigyvcourt to draw on itgidicial experience and
common sense.1d. at 679.

In reviewing a motion to dismiss, the courteapts the facts alleged in the complaint are
true and draws all reasonable maieces in the plaintiff's favor.Tal v. Hogan 453 F.3d 1244,
1252 (10th Cir. 2006). The court generally ignores materials outside the pleadings but may
consider materials—such as public records of disciplinary proceedings—that are part of the
public record or materials that arecessarily embraced by the pleadingSeePeterson v.

Saperstein267 F. App’x 751, 754 (10th Cir. 2008).

! The Court declines to rule on the balance of Dedatsl arguments because Plaintiff's briefing does not
sufficiently address the issues so tiegt Court enjoys the benefif adversarial briefing on these claims, several of
which involve complex abstentioissues. Adversarial briefing on thdssues is important because Defendants’
arguments, if accepted, would arguabkpand the reach of varisabstention doctrined=or example, Defendants
argue that although Plaintiff filed this lawsbiforethe Kansas Supreme Court ordered his disbarmeriRdbker-
Feldmandoctrine still bars Plaintiff's claimsSeeMemo. in Supp. (Doc. 15) at 17; Reply (Doc. 22) at 4-5. This
argument arguably conflicts witthe Supreme Court’'s decision Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Industries
Corp, 544 U.S. 280 (2005) (holding that the doctrine is limited to preventing federal courts from reviewing state
court proceedings completed before the federal caseiledy flt is unclear if Plaintiff is aware of thexxoncase;

his brief fails to cite it by name. This failure to addréefendants’ arguments is plehatic because if the Court
embraced Defendants’ position, litigantsuture cases might cite the Court'saision without relizing that it was
reached without the benedif adversarial briefing.



Background

According to the report issued by the KanBasird for Discipline of Attorneys—whose
factual findings and disciplinary recommendatiwere accepted by the Kansas Supreme Court,
seeln re Hawver 339 P.3d 573, 588-89 (Kan. 2014)—Defendamirsued disciplinary charges
against Plaintiff because his contlwiolated numerous ethical rules. For example, Plaintiff
violated Kansas Rule of Prafgional Conduct 1.1 by failing to mpetently represent his client
in the client’'s capital murder casdd. at 584, 589. Among otheritigs: Plaintiff agreed to
represent his client in a capital murder casgpie not having tried a murder case in twenty
years and having no experience in death pemakgs; Plaintiff did not arrange for co-counsel,
an investigator, or a mitigation specialist to assist him (he actually refused free assistance offered
by the Board of Indigent Defense Serviceshilff was so uneducateabout death penalty
cases that he did not understand that capiséare divided into separate guilt and penalty
phases; and during closing argument in theesemg phase—after theryjuhad concluded his
client was guilty of the murders—PIlaintiff totte jury that the killer should be executdd. at
577-78. An affidavit Plaintiff submitted to a state trial court investigating whether his client
should receive a new trial confirmed manytbé facts found by the investigatory panel and
Supreme Court. For example, Plaintiff acknowledged that he failed to conduct any penalty phase
investigation, that his performance “was belamy reasonable professional standard” set out in
the ABA guidelines for the appointment and parfance of defense counsel in a capital case,
and that he “used a flawed apaejudicial argument in the penalbhase . . . [which] was clearly
prejudicial to my client.”ld. at 579-82.

In the Complaint (Doc. 1), Plaintiff tells different story why hevas disbarred. The
Complaint contends the members of the KanSapreme Court delivered the disciplinary

complaint to the Kansas Attorney Disciplinddministrator, Defendant Stanton Hazlett



("Hazlett”), and the members of the Kansasalbfor Discipline of Attorneys (“the Board
members”), who are all named Defendants. Coatpl. 31. The Board members, acting “out of
animus and prejudice againsetplaintiff Dennis Hawver for biprotected speech,” abandoned
their duty to independently evaluate the etltiesiplaint by finding probable cause to prosecute
Plaintiff. 1d. Plaintiff contends the State Discipdiry Proceeding Defendants initiated these
proceedings to retaliate agaimst for his testimony as a witness in his client’'s appeal and for
following his client’s instuctions at trial. Id. at § 2. Plaintiff claimghe State Disciplinary
Proceeding Defendants followed an “order” isshgdhe justices of the Kansas Supreme Court
to prosecute himld. at § 11. He asserts that “the sujsnt lockstep following of the bosses’
(the Kansas Supreme Courtders, shows that the Disciplinary Counsel and his hand-picked
disciplinary tribunal know where their bread hsittered, and in standard political fashion,
understand that they had better do as #reytold, or incuthe bosses’ ire."ld.

The Complaint expresses doubt that Ritiimeceived due process from the Board
members, citing “conflicting and invalid evidexicwhether other “similayl situated” disbarred
attorneys had received due process from thiemants in their disciplinary hearing$d. at
32. The Complaint then spends several pagesing the alleged experiences of these other
attorneys, focusing particularly on Hazlett’s rol@he following is a representative example.
The Complaint asserts Hazlett:

initiated the bad faith prosecuti@mi Keen Umbehr (presently the
Libertarian candidate for Kansas governor) for seeking to
effectively represent the federabgitory civil rights of a female
prison inmate who was raped and had her rights violated by
members of the corrupt narc@d® conspiracy that caused
[Plaintiff's client in the capital murder case] to be prosecuted.

Id. at  34. Hazlett did so because the Chisfide of the Kansas Supreme Court and the State

of Kansas Prisons Administrator wanted tmtpct “illegal narcotics trafficking and rights

4



violations from being discovered.id. at § 35. Hazlett stopped thisd faith prosecution only
because the Chief Justice “discovered ttlabugh his wife’s family, Keen Umbehr had
connections to a powerful East Coast law firmattis closely aligned ith the Democrat Party

and former President Bill Clinton.'ld. at § 37. The Chief Justice was also “surprised by the
moral outrage and popular sovereignty by citizens of Kansas that arose” from Hazlett’'s using his
office “to protect prison officialfrom being exposed for their involvement in the rape, abuse and
narcotics trafficking.”1d. at { 38.

With respect to the Kansas Attorndyiscipline Prosecutor, Defendant Alexander
Walczak (“Walczak”), the Complaint alleges Hetzldirected Walczak & violate the clearly
established Due Process rights of similarly situétadsas attorneys to have a fair and impartial
hearing regarding disciplinamyffice recommendations in the Kansas Supreme Coudt.’at
43. Walczak did so by engaginganpattern and practice of ntiexgy with the Kansas Supreme
Court justices’ law clerks and arranging for thenwrite the disciplinary opinions in advance of
the hearingsld. at § 44. The Complaint explains this is how Walczak “ended up announcing to
a class of Jim Vanderbilt's drstt/county attorney peers in Kb East Kansas the specific
findings and judgment against Vanderbilt befdia Vanderbilt or his attorney knew the results
and before the opinion was published by the cdutd”

Plaintiff contends he isuing the State Disciplinary &reeding Defendants for violating
his “federal constitutional rightsncluding his constitutional prepty right to pusue his trade
under color of state law.ld. at 1. Count One alleges thhé State Disciplinary Proceeding
Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. 1883 by retaliating against Plaintiff for exercising his First

Amendment rights in defending hiBent at trial and as acting aswitness on his client’s direct

2 The Complaint does not offer any details explaining who Jim Vanderbilt is or the nature of the ethics complaint
against him.



appeal. Specifically, it alleges the Board mibers retaliated against Plaintiff by finding
probable cause to discipline him, or alternatey assenting to finding probable cause against
him, or alternately by not objecting to orsdssociating themselves from the probable cause
finding. 1d. at 11 76-78. Hazlett alleggdietaliated by accepting the Chief Justice of the Kansas
Supreme Court’s plan to investigapFpsecute, and disbar Plaintiffd. at § 81. And Walczak
allegedly retaliated by filing a supplemental naisduct charge for failing to timely answer the
original ethics complaint, despite knowi Plaintiff had timely filed his answetd. at 1 88-95.

Count Two makes similar allegations,leging the State Disciplinary Proceeding
Defendants violated 8 1983 by retaliating agaPisintiff for exercising his First Amendment
right to engage in protecteddvocacy, testimony, and association, by investigating and
prosecuting him when they lacked cause to doldoat 1 106, 110.

Discussion

The State Disciplinary Proceeding Defendaatgue that the Court should dismiss all
claims against them because the Complaint fails to plead “coherent, plausible, non-conclusory
factual allegations.” Plaintiff sponds that the district coutidge previously assigned to this
case “has firsthand knowledge of the widespneattice of the [D]efendants to extort Kansas
licensed attorneys to unlawfully restrain their constitutionally protected speech” and “chill
protected speech.” Answer to &tddefs.” Mots. to Dismiss (Dod.8) at {1 3-5. Plaintiff then
devotes seven pages of his brief to providadgitional examples of attorneys Defendants
allegedly mistreated during the disciplinary process.

Both of Plaintiff's counts against thea®& Disciplinary Proceeding Defendants allege
retaliation. To plead a Firgtmendment retaliation claim und&r1983, a plaintf must allege:
“(1) he was engaged in constitutionally protected activity, (2) the government’s actions caused

him injury that would chill a person of ordinary firmness from continuing to engage in that



activity, and (3) the governmentactions were substantially motivated as a response to his
constitutionally protected conduct.Nielander v. Bd. of Cnty. @am'rs of Cnty. of Republic,
Kan, 582 F.3d 1155, 1165 (10th Cir. 2009)

Drawing every reasonable inference in ®laintiff's favor, theCourt holds that the
Complaint’s allegations fail to satisfy at lease tthird element. As is clear from the Kansas
Board for Discipline of Attorney report and Plaintiff's ownaffidavit, Plaintiff violated
numerous ethical rules. Hence, Plaintifilegation that the State Disciplinary Proceeding
Defendants pursuit of disciplinary charges agaihim was “substantially motivated” by his
exercise of his First Amendment rights is conglieimplausible. Therefore, Counts One and
Two—the only counts against theBefendants—must be dismissetfjbal, 556 U.S. at 679.
Additionally, because there is simply no way PRi#fircan re-plead this allegations to state a
plausible claim for relief against any of these Defendants, this dismissal is with prejSeiee.
Staats v. Cobb455 F. App’x 816, 818 (10th Cir. 2011).

Conclusion

For the reasons discussed above, the moti@RANTED. All claimsagainst the State
Disciplinary Proceeding Defendarase DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

Date:_ March 10, 2015 /sl Greg Kays

GREG KAYS, CHIEF JUDGE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT




